FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 5/9/2019 4:14 PM No. 97184-6 Court of Appeals No. 49592-9-II

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TYLER WALLACE,

Petitioner.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND RELIEF REQUESTED</u>

Petitioner Tyler Wallace asks this Court to accept review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v*. *Wallace*, 49592-9-II pursuant to RAP 13.4.

#### B. OPINION BELOW

In an opinion contrary to this Court opinions in *State v*. *Bryd*, 125 Wn.2d 707, 887 P.2d 396 (1995) and *State v*. *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d 742, 399 P.3d 507 (2017) the Court of Appeals concluded the State was not required to prove the crime in the manner in which the jury was instructed.

#### C. <u>ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR</u>

Due process requires the State prove each essential element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The State must prove the elements of the offense in the manner in which the jury was instructed. Here, the jury was instructed that to find Mr. Wallace assaulted another he had to have acted with an intent to cause fear but not an intent to harm. Although the State's evidence did not prove this element must

#### D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Mr. Wallace and his girlfriend, Kimberly Nolan, lived together with their children at Mr. Wallace's grandmother's home. 10/17-18/16 RP 27-29. One day they were arguing and as the argument became more heated Mr. Wallace slapped Ms. Nolan. *Id.* at 36.

When Ms. Nolan said she would call police, Mr. Wallace said "T'm going to kill you." *Id* at 39. Mr. Wallace retreated to the kitchen and returned holding a knife at his side but pointed toward her. *Id.* at 41. As Mr. Wallace continued walking toward her Ms. Nolan opened the front door knowing there were people in front of the home that could hear her if she needed help. *Id.* Ms. Nolan then called police.

The State charged Mr. Wallace with second degree assault. CP 1-3. A jury convicted him as charged. CP 42-44.

Mr. Wallace appealed his convictions and counsel was appointed in October 2016. In April 2017, appointed counsel filed a brief pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S. Ct. 1396, 18 L. Ed. 2d 493 (1967) asserting there were no nonfriovlous issues and asking to withdraw as counsel. However, shortly after filing the *Anders* brief in this case, and eight months before his motion to withdraw was granted, appointed counsel took a position as a deputy prosecuting attorney.

The Court of Appeals granted previously appointed counsel's motion to withdraw and dismissed Mr. Wallace's appeal. After, various *amici curiae* filed a motion to reconsider, this Court appointed new counsel, granted counsel's motion to reconsider and withdrew its prior opinion.

Counsel then filed a brief contending the State failed to prove the crime as charged in the jury instructions.

The Court of Appeals again affirmed Mr. Wallace's conviction. Opinion at 1.

#### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Contrary to several opinions of this Court, the Court of Appeals opinion excused the State of the failure to prove the offense of second degree assault, as submitted to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt.

1. The State must prove each element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause requires the State prove each essential element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). Evidence is sufficient only if, in the light most favorable to the prosecution, a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); *State v. Hummel*, 196 Wn. App. 329, 353, 383 P.3d 592, *review denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1021 (2016).

Where additional elements are added to the "to convict" instruction, and the State does not object, the additional element becomes the "law of the case" and must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 756. If the State failed to meet this burden with respect to the added element, the conviction must be dismissed. *Id*.

2. Based upon the jury instruction, the State was required to prove Mr. Wallace acted with an intent to cause fear but not an intent to harm.

In a prosecution, such as this, for assault by intentional

infliction of fear:

the State bears the burden of proving [the defendant] acted with an intent **either** to create in [the victim's] mind a reasonable apprehension of harm **or** to cause bodily harm.

Byrd, 125 Wn.2d at 714, 887 P.2d 396 (1995) (emphasis

added). The Court explained:

[A]n assault is "committed merely by putting another in apprehension of harm whether or not the actor actually intends to inflict or is incapable of inflicting that harm."

Id. at 713 (quoting State v. Frazier, 81 Wn.2d 628, 631, 503

P.2d 1073 (1972)).

Thus, the common law definition permits a conviction where a person possesses either or both an intent to injure or an intent to cause fear. This common law definition is "an essential element of assault in the second degree." *Byrd*, 125 Wn.2d at 713. As required by *Byrd*, the trial court instructed the jury on the creation of fear. CP 24. But rather than instruct the jury that it could find an intent to cause fear "whether or not" it found an intent to cause harm, Instruction 5 told the jury it needed to find Mr. Wallace acted with the intent to create fear of bodily injury "even though [Mr. Wallace] did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury." CP 24. This instruction permitted the jury to find Mr. Wallace assaulted Ms. Nolan only if the jury found Mr. Wallace did not intend to inflict bodily injury. This is a narrower definition of intent.

The law of the case doctrine requires the State to prove the charge in the manner in which the jury is instructed. *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 99, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). "The doctrine refers to the principle that jury instructions that are not objected to are treated as the properly applicable law for purposes of appeal. *Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d at 755

 $\mathbf{6}$ 

(Internal quotations and citations omitted.) Moreover, the doctrine reflects the common theory that juries are presumed to follow the court's instructions.

Having not objected to the narrower instruction on an essential element provided in Instruction 5, the State was required to prove Mr. Wallace possessed only the intent to cause fear but not an intent to cause harm. In short, the State was required to prove the negative. The State offered no such proof.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals refused apply the law of the case doctrine as set forth most recently by *Johnson*. The court reasoned "the legal authority [Mr. Wallace] does provide predates the current form of WPIC 35.50." First, the "legal authority" the Court of Appeals dismisses is this Court's opinion in *Byrd*. Second, the fact that it predates the current version of the pattern instruction is wholly irrelevant. Pattern instructions are not the law. Instead, pattern instructions reflect only what committees of lawyers and judges believe the law to be. The opinions of such committees, informed or otherwise, certainly cannot override controlling precedent of this Court. Third, the "Notes on Use" for WPIC 35.50 say that an instruction such as Instruction 5 should be given "in cases in which there is evidence that the actor's intent was not to inflict bodily injury but only to create the apprehension or fear of bodily injury in the victim." 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 35.50 (4th Ed). Thus, the WPIC committee agrees with Mr. Wallace's contention that this instruction requires the State prove there is no intent to harm but only an intent to cause fear.

The Court of Appeals opinion concludes "[n]otably, [Byrd] did not hold the State must prove the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury." Opinion at 6. But that's the point. While Byrd does not require the State prove either an intent to harm **or** merely an intent to scare Instruction 5 does. The instruction uses language that differs from Byrd and in doing so creates and obligation on the State's part to prove a negative; that Mr. Wallace acted only with an intent to cause harm and not an intent to cause fear.

8

Pursuant to *Johnson* and under the law of this case, the State was required to prove Mr. Wallace did not have an intent to harm Ms. Nolan, but had only an intent to cause fear. The opinion of the Court of Appeals is contrary to *Johnson* and *Byrd*. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4.

# 3. The State did not prove Mr. Wallace acted only with an intent to cause fear.

While the State's evidence established Mr. Wallace did not in fact harm Ms. Nolan that is not the same as establishing he did not intend to. In fact according to Ms. Nolan, Mr. Wallace stated he wanted to kill her and then went to the kitchen to obtain the knife. 10/17-18/16 RP 39. Ms. Nolan testified Mr. Wallace returned with the knife pointed towards her. *Id.* at 40-42.

A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence requires this Court to examine the evidence in its best light and presume the factfinder resolved credibility determinations in favor of the State. *State v. Cardenas-Flores*, 189 Wn.2d 243, 264, 401 P.3d 19 (2017). Thus, the court must view Ms. Nolan's testimony, presented by the State, as establishing that Mr. Nolan did intend to harm her. But that prevents the State from establishing Mr. Wallace did **not** intend to harm her and only intended to cause fear.

The State did not prove the offense as charged to the jury.

#### F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons above this Court should grant review in this matter.