FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/6/2019 11:39 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97184-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 49592-9-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

TYLER WALLACE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

> JONATHAN MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 43759

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

- Is the decision of the Court of Appeals in conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Byrd.*, 125 Wn.2d 707, 887
 P.2d 396 (1995) or *State v. Johnson.*, 188 Wn.2d 742, 399
 P.3d 507 (2017)?
- 2. Does Wallace's case involve a significant question of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or United States?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The substantive facts of Wallace's case can be found in the unpublished Court of Appeals decision, attached for the Court's convenience as Appendix A.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The State respectfully requests this Court decline review of the decision of the Court of Appeals because the decision is wellsupported by the trial record and applicable law and none of the RAP 13.4(b) considerations governing acceptance of review have been met in this case. The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case involved sufficiency of the evidence and the law of the case doctrine. The Court of Appeals held that the current WPIC 35.50 does not add an essential element to Assault in the Second Degree requiring the State to prove a negative – that the defendant *did not* intend to actually inflict bodily injury. This decision is not in conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Byrd.*, 125 Wn.2d 707, 887 P.2d 396 (1995) or *State v. Johnson.*, 188 Wn.2d 742, 399 P.3d 507 (2017). Wallace's case does not present a significant question under the Constitution of the United States or the Washington State Constitution.

 THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN BYRD OR JOHNSON.

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if it is in conflict with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Contrary to Wallace's arguments, the Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with previous case law, including this Court's decision in *Byrd* and in *Johnson*.

In *Byrd*, the State's theory of the case was that the defendant committed Assault in the Second Degree by creating "apprehension of bodily harm." 125 Wn.2d at 712. The jury was given a definition of assault consistent with Former WPIC 35.50 (1977). *Id.* at 710.¹ The

¹ "An assault is also an intentional act, with unlawful force, which creates in another a reasonable apprehension and fear of bodily injury, even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury.

Court held that "specific intent either to create apprehension of bodily harm or to cause bodily harm is an essential element of assault in the second degree." *Id.* at 713. The Court also held that the definition contained in Former WPIC 35.50 (1977) "impermissibly removed the element of intent" from the jury. *Id.* at 716. The Court reasoned that a jury would be permitted to return a guilty verdict if it only found the defendant acted intentionally and the result of the act was the creation of a reasonable apprehension and fear of bodily injury, rather than also requiring a finding that the defendant intended to create this apprehension or fear. *Id.* at 715-16.

Here, unlike in *Byrd*, the jury was instructed that it needed to find Wallace acted with intent to create apprehension and fear of bodily injury. The instruction did not remove any essential elements included in the crime of assault in the second degree. *Byrd* did not address any issues regarding the law of the case doctrine.

In *Johnson*, the defendant was charged with second degree theft of an access device for taking a purse that contained credit cards. 188 Wn.2d at 747-48. The "to-convict" instruction included as one of its four elements that the defendant "intended to deprive the other person *of the access device*." *Id*. at 749 (emphasis added). The Court held that specific intent to steal an access device was not an

3

essential element of second degree theft of an access device. *Id.* at 754. Under the theft statute, the State was required to prove the separate elements of intent to take property and that the nature of the property taken was of the type required by statute. *Id.* at 752-53. However, the Court held that because the "to-convict" instruction included specific intent to steal an access device as an element, the State was required to prove that element under the law of the case doctrine. *Id.* at 756. The Court found sufficient evidence to prove the added element of specific intent to steal an access device and affirmed the conviction. *Id.* at 764.

Here, the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with *Johnson*. The jury in Wallace's trial was given the following to-convict instruction, Jury Instruction 4:

To convict the defendant of the crime of Assault in the Second Degree, each of the following two elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- That on or about April 7, 2016, the defendant did intentionally assault Kimberly A. Nolan with a deadly weapon; and
- (2) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty. On the other hand, if after weighing all the evidence you have a reasonable doubt as to any of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 23. The jury was also instructed on two of the three

common law definitions of assault. CP 24. Jury Instruction 5 read:

An assault is an intentional touching or striking of another person that is harmful or offensive regardless of whether any physical injury is done to the person. A touching or striking is offensive if the touching or striking would offend an ordinary person who is not unduly sensitive.

An assault is an act done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury.

CP 24. Wallace argues because the second definition in Jury Instruction 5 included the phrase "even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury" the State had the additional burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Wallace, although intending to create apprehension and fear, did not in fact intend to inflict bodily injury. Wallace cites *Johnson* and *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) to support this argument, but this reliance is misplaced. The *Hickman* Court held that the State will assume the burden of proving *elements* included in a "to convict" instruction if not objected to, even if they are not truly elements of the charge. *Hickman*, at 99. As discussed above, in *Johnson*, the Court continued to apply the law of the case doctrine, requiring the State to prove additional elements included in the to-convict instruction.

The State is required to prove every *element* of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. The assault definitions contained in Jury Instruction 5 did not add an additional element to the charge of Assault in the Second Degree and did not elevate the State's burden. The State proved each element contained in Jury Instruction 4, the to-convict instruction, beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with this Court's decision in *Byrd* or *Johnson*.

2. WALLACE'S CASE DOES NOT PRESENT A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW.

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if it involves a significant question of law under either the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States Constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The Court of Appeals correctly decided Wallace's direct appeal. Wallace raises one issue for discretionary review: he asks this Court to review whether there was sufficient evidence to prove each element of Second Degree Assault as submitted to the jury. This Court only accepts review if a case meets the following

standards:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Wallace's case meets none of these criteria.

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard in holding a rational trier of fact could find beyond a reasonable doubt that Wallace assaulted Nolan with a deadly weapon by intending to create in Nolan apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and in fact caused Nolan to have reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury regardless of whether Wallace actually intended to inflict bodily injury. Appendix A. There is no significant question of law under the constitutions of the State of Washington or of the United States that results from the Court of Appeals decision.

E. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review on the issue Wallace raises in his petition for review. If this Court were to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.